Board of Registration in Dentistry

General Session Agenda & Minutes

December 3, 2025    
(Approved by the Board on January 7, 2026)


COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
NOTICE OF THE REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING OF THE

BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY
December 3, 2025
Via WebEx from 250 Washington Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
AGENDA 

If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the DPH ADA Coordinator Ms. Stacy Hart by email at Stacy.Hart@mass.gov or by phone at 857-274-1120, in advance of the meeting. While the Board will do its best to accommodate you, certain accommodations may require distinctive requests or the hiring of outside contractors and may not be available if requested immediately before the meeting.  Only the General Session is open to the public and may be viewed and/or heard via WebEx.

WebEx Information: Please send an email to Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH at barbara.a.young@mass.gov at least 24 hours before the meeting to request an email invitation to attend this meeting by video conference. The invitation will contain a direct link to the meeting.

You may also obtain video and audio access to all sessions of the meeting open to the 
public through the following link: 

https://eohhs.webex.com/eohhs/j.php?MTID=m0e68e0ad8e5e8fe1f353813c2a338b23
Call-in number for audio-only attendance: 1- (617) 315-0704 (toll) or 1-(650) 479-3208 (toll) only if you have no access to video conference.
Access Code:  2533 963 8908
Attendee ID:   #              Password:    BORID2025!
	8:30 a.m.
	
	CALL TO ORDER, DETERMINATION OF QUORUM, AND  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA


	
	

	8:32 a.m.
	I
	GENERAL SESSION

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS:

1. Elections for Board Chair and Board Secretary for 2026
2. Consideration of Proposed “FAST” Policy on Complaint Resolution
3. Consideration of Minutes from the BORID meetings on:
a.  October 8, 2025

b.  November 5, 2025

       4.   Update on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR

       5.   Update on Scheduled Changes to the TOEFL iBT Exam

       6.   Monthly Probation Report
       7.   Flex session

	
	Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Board Counsel

Michael Egan, Esq.

Probation Dept. Coordinator 

K. Fishman

	
	II
	COMPLAINT RESOLUTION: PENDING BOARD MATTERS

1.
DEN-2025-0019:     Julissa Lluveres, RDA
2.
DEN-2025-0059:     Dr. Dongho Kim


	
	Dental Investigators:

J. Bueno

E. Mulligan

	10:00 a.m.
	III
	ADJUDICATORY SESSION  (closed to the public)

	
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH



	10:30 a.m.
	IV
	MGL c. 112, s. 65C SESSION   (closed to the public)


	 
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH

	3:30 p.m.
	
	ADJOURNMENT
	
	


MASSACHUSETTS BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY

250 Washington Street, Boston, MA  02108
GENERAL SESSION MINUTES 

 November 5, 2025
Present:  Dr. Michael Scialabba, Board Chair; Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Board Secretary; 
Dr. Richard T. Miller; Dr. Sabina Malla; Dr. Seema Jacob; Dr. Kasra Rafia; Ms. Jacyn Stultz, MS, RDH; Ms. Ailish Wilkie, MS, CPHRM, CPPS, CPHQ
Absent:   Ms. Stacy Haluch, RDH; Ms. Jennifer McKeon, M.Ed., RDH, CDA
Board Staff Present: Barbara A. Young, RDH, Executive Director; Kyle Rippstein, Associate Executive Director; Board Counsel Michael Egan, Esq.; Dr. Liliana DiFabio, Supervisor of Investigations; OPP Investigators Kathleen O’Connell, Jaris Bueno, Eileen Mulligan, Rhonda Heard, Melissa Hebert and Deborah El-Majdoubi; Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman.
Dr. Thomas Trowbridge chaired the meeting until Dr. Michael Scialabba joined the meeting.
	Motion:
	At 8:34 a.m., to adopt the proposed agenda for today’s meeting


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:
Vote:
	Ms. Ailish Wilkie
In Favor: Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Dr. Sabina Malla, Dr. Kasra Rafia,
Dr. Seema Jacob, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Ailish Wilkie
Opposed: None
Abstain: None
(Drs. Michael Scialabba and Richard T. Miller were unavailable for the vote.)




Administrative Matters:
Dr. Liliana DiFabio, Supervisor of Investigations, introduced the newest dental investigator Ms. Alyssa Zaroda to the Board members.

1.
Review of the General Session Minutes from the BORID Meetings on October 8, 2025 and November 5, 2025 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Ms. Young informed the Board she has not yet drafted the minutes from these meetings and plans on submitting those minutes to the Board for its consideration during its January 2026 meeting.

2.
Updated on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Atty. Michael Egan advised the Board the proposed changes to 234 CMR are still undergoing administrative review but noted no additional information is needed from the Board at this time.  Ms. Wilkie asked how long it will take to finish that review; Ms. Young noted the Board's last public hearing on the proposed changes was held in early 2022.  Dr. Trowbridge asked what documents have been requested by the DPH administration; Atty. Egan replied the proposed changes have been revised on occasion so the reason why the regulations were revised must be documented.  Ms. Wilkie suggested the Board start the process again from the beginning noting many of the proposed changes are already out of date.  


Ms. Young asked if the proposed changes are ready to be included in the agenda for the next Board meeting in January 2026; Atty. Egan replied not yet.  Ms. Stultz noted the committee tasked with proposing dental hygiene licensure requirements for foreign trained dentists will meet one more time; Ms. Wilkie asked how do we prevent those recommendations from being delayed.  Atty. Egan agreed it is important to adopt those requirements as soon as possible but noted the committee's focus is more narrow in that the committee was tasked with working on one part of the Board's regulations, the dental hygiene licensure requirements.  
3.
Update on Scheduled Changes to the TOEFL iBT Exam – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Ms. Young informed the Board she was notified of proposed scoring changes to the TOEFL iBT exam by staff at the Harvard Dental School.  Ms. Young noted the iBT exam will now be scored on a scale of 1-6, effective January 2026, instead of the former scoring scale of 0-100.  Ms. Young noted a passing score of 75% or higher on the former exam was "90" while an equivalent passing score on the new exam will be "4.5."  Ms. Stultz asked if the new exam will still use the "my best score" format to report an applicant's scores; Ms. Young replied it will.  Dr. Rafia asked if the TOEFL uses an aggregate score; Ms. Young replied it does.  Dr. Trowbridge asked if Board staff will review an applicant's score on each section of the exam; Ms. Young replied it will not noting staff will review an applicant's aggregate score to see if the applicant scored a "90" or higher or a "4.5" or higher.  Dr. Rafia noted TOEFL will split an applicant's score into half-scores, i.e. 4.00 or 4.50 or 5.00.   
4.
Monthly Probation Report – Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman


Ms. Young presented the report on behalf of Ms. Fishman; the Board had no questions for Ms. Young.  
Flex Session:
1.
Ms. Young asked the Dental Hygiene Licensure by Foreign Trained Dentists Committee members for their available dates this month as she's trying to schedule a meeting.  Ms. Young suggested Monday, December 15th at 3PM or Wednesday, December 17th at 1PM.  The committee members replied they would check their calendars and send an email to Ms. Young.  
Dr. Richard T. Miller joined the meeting at 9:13 a.m.

2.
Ms. Stultz asked if any discussion regarding the phone recording of a patient by a third party noting Massachusetts is a two-party state in that all participants must be notified they are being recorded.  Ms. Young noted that issue is, generally speaking, not within the Board's authority as it is a cross-over issue from criminal law.   Atty. Egan advised the Board issuing an advisory ruling on this issue may be warranted but noted he needed to check with the legal team first.  Dr. Miller noted that some systems are already doing so by providing a message that states the call will be recorded.  Dr. Miller suggested this practice may implicate HIPAA issues but Atty. Egan advised it is not a HIPAA issue as it is a criminal statute.  Ms. Young noted the content of the communication was not the issue rather the problem arises when one party to the communication is unaware they are being recorded.

3.
Dr. DiFabio informed the Board the investigative reports (IRs) are being changed across the bureau so future IRs submitted to the Board may look very different.  
4.
Dr. Malla noted many dentists are administering Botox noted she recently completed a course on administering Botox at the TUSDM and asked the instructor how this treatment was part of a patient's comprehensive dental treatment plan.  Dr. Malla noted the instructor was unable to answer her question.  Atty. Egan advised the Board an updated Botox and derma filler policy will be submitted to the Board for its consideration during the Board's January 2026 meeting.  Dr. Malla also noted the course instructor was unclear how a dentist should bill for Botox procedures, i.e. what CDT code should be used.  Dr. Trowbridge noted several new CDT codes are rolling out in 2026 and suggested duly trained dentists should be able to administer Botox but some policy decisions will need to be made by the Board.  Dr. Malla noted there was a lot of confusion among participants in the TUSDM course.  Dr. DiFabio suggested the Board may need to define what is appropriate training on administering Botox and derma fillers; Ms. Wilkie agreed and asked what training must an RN complete.  
 Complaint Resolution – Investigator Jaris Bueno
--In the Matter of DEN-2025-0019: Jalisa Lluveres, RDA
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Infection control violations; Practicing beyond scope


	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Bueno informed the Board an anonymous complainant alleges the licensee was placing tooth gems on patients' teeth noting she was able to obtain screen shots from the licensee's website showing the licensee completing this procedure.  Ms. Bueno noted the is no apparent supervision by a licensed dentist and that the licensee claims she researched the issue and discovered a license was not required.  Ms. Bueno stated the licensee claims she only did the procedure on friends and family members.  Ms. Bueno also noted the licensee stopped providing this treatment approx. one year ago and has apologized.  
Ms. Stultz asked what materials were being used by the licensee; Ms. Bueno replied the licensee did not say but Dr. Trowbridge noted the website indicates the licensee was using a flowable composite.  Ms. Bueno stated the licensee admitted she obtains her materials from the Etsy website.  



	Motion: 

Motion made by:
	To refer the matter to the Office of Prosecution for the Issuance of an Order to Show Cause and authorize resolution of the matter with a Non-Disciplinary Consent Agreement for Stayed Probation for 3-6 Months with terms to include:

· 3 Hours:   Risk management

· 3 Hours:   Ethics

· Proof of the licensee's completion of 12 CEUs for the 2023-2025 licensure cycle
· Passing score on the ethics and jurisprudence exam
· All remedial coursework to be completed by attending live, in-person courses OR by completing live, interactive online webinars.  
Ms. Ailish Wilkie


	Second:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge


	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Dr. Sabina Malla, 

Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Seema Jacob, 

Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Ailish Wilkie

Opposed: None
Abstain: None




Complaint Resolution – Investigator Eileen Mulligan

--In the Matter of DEN-2025-0059: Dr. Dongho Kim
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Infection control violations 


	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Mulligan informed the Board the licensee is the owner of an Aspen Dental located in Plymouth, MA that was inspected in response to the licensee submitting a facility permit application.  Ms. Mulligan noted a significant delay in the licensee submitting spore tests for testing by an outside agency was discovered during the inspection.  Ms. Mulligan stated the licensee reported he would mail the spore tests to the company by regular mail but now does so by express mail.  Ms. Mulligan stated she requested spore testing reports for 17 weeks from August to late November but discovered 4 tests were delayed in shipping by 10-14 days and other tests were also delayed in shipping but by less than 10 days.  
Ms. Young asked if there were any failed tests; Ms. Mulligan replied none failed.  Ms. Stultz asked what is the typical turn around time once a company receives a spore test; Dr. DiFabio replied the testing is usually completed with 48 hrs.  Ms. Stultz noted the licensee's own change in procedure is not working.  Dr. Miller stated the Board should request the licensee's dates of shipping; Ms. Mulligan asked if that would be for those same 17 weeks.  Dr. Miller replied yes; Dr. Trowbridge agreed.  Ms. Stultz suggested Ms. Mulligan also obtain a copy of the licensee's written policy on spore testing.  

The Board elected to defer the consideration of this complaint until its next meeting on Wednesday, January 7, 2026 and directed Ms. Young to schedule this matter in the Executive Session so the licensee could be invited; Ms. Young agreed to do so.


The Board took its morning recess at 10:06 a.m. and resumed its meeting at 10:29 a.m.

Dr. Michael Scialabba joined the meeting at 10:29 a.m.
Administrative Matters (continued):
5.
Consideration of Proposed "FAST" Policy on Complaint Resolution - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

BHPL Director James Lavery, BHPL Deputy Director Timothy St. Laurent, Chief Board Counsel Heather Engman, Esq. and Kim Morton, BHPL's Director of Quality Improvement joined the discussion of the Board on this matter.


Ms. Morton explained the chart provided to the Board that details the number of current complaints, including active dental investigations, dating back to 2017.  Ms. Morton noted 79 cases have been identified as possible candidates for application of the FAST policy should the Board vote to adopt the policy.  Ms. Wilkie asked if the list includes cases assigned to the prosecution unit; Ms. Morton replied it does.  Ms. Stultz asked if the chart lists cases that were assigned to the prosecution unit in 2018; Ms. Morton replied it does not noting the dates used in the chart detail when we received the complaint and opened the initial investigation.  


Ms. Stultz asked if we have data on the length of time from when a complaint is received to when it is resolved; Ms. Morton replied we do have that data but does not have that information with her today.  Mr. St. Laurent noted the chart only references open cases.  Dr. Trowbridge noted there could be a significant jump in the no. of cases to be considered under this policy after the 79 highlighted cases are resolved.  Ms. Stultz noted the Board has considered several serious cases in 2025 and asked if there was any way to track what is happening with those cases.  Mr. St. Laurent noted the goal is to resolve older cases now and thereby decreasing the workload of each investigator; Ms. Stultz agreed but noted cases that present a threat to the public need to be expedited.  Mr. Lavery noted we still have a mechanism in place to resolve serious cases.  Atty. Egan advised the Board the nursing board recently adopted the FAST policy and noted that certain criteria must be met for the policy to apply.  For example, Atty. Egan noted all participants in the FAST policy committee must unanimously agree; if there is no unanimity, then the matter will be referred to the Board.

Ms. Stultz asked about a timeline; Ms. Young suggested the FAST policy committee meet every two weeks and should be able to resolve those 79 cases within a few months.  Dr. Scialabba noted this policy is for immediate use but asked how the Board can be assured this policy won't be abused in the future.  Dr. Scialabba suggested adopting this policy for one or two years; Atty. Egan advised the Board setting a time limit is permissible but noted the required quarterly report may say no cases were reviewed that quarter.  Also, Atty. Egan noted the Board can always review its own policies.  Dr. Trowbridge asked how the nursing board handled the temporary nature of this policy; Mr. Lavery replied that issue was not addressed by the nursing board and noted the Board has adopted other measures to expedite the resolution of open complaints.  Mr. Lavery suggested a one-year limit is a good idea; Ms. Stultz agreed. Mr. St. Laurent noted the nursing board is only dealing with cases that have been referred to the prosecution unit.  Dr. Trowbridge asked if an updated chart could be included with every quarterly report; Mr. St. Laurent replied that is doable.  
	Motion:
	To adopt the proposed FAST Policy on complaint resolution

	
	

	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba



	Second:

Vote:


	Dr. Richard T. Miller
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 

Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 

Dr. Seema Jacob, Ms. Ailish Wilkie

Opposed: Ms. Jacyn Stultz
Abstain: None



6.
Elections for Board Chair and Board Secretary for 2026 - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

a.
Board Chair

Dr. Michael Scialabba thanked the Board members for their confidence in his leadership.

Vote:

Dr. Michael Scialabba voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Dr. Thomas Trowbridge voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Dr. Kasra Rafia voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Dr. Richard T. Miller voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Dr. Sabina Malla voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Dr. Seema Jacob voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Ms. Jacyn Stultz voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba



Ms. Ailish Wilkie voted for Dr. Michael Scialabba

b.
Board Secretary

Dr. Thomas Trowbridge thanked the Board members and noted he is honored and glad to serve.

Vote:

Dr. Michael Scialabba voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Dr. Thomas Trowbridge voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Dr. Kasra Rafia voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Dr. Richard T. Miller voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Dr. Sabina Malla voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Dr. Seema Jacob voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Ms. Jacyn Stultz voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge



Ms. Ailish Wilkie voted for Dr. Thomas Trowbridge
	Motion:
	At 11:25 a.m. to enter a closed Adjudicatory Session



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia 


Second:

   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 




   Dr. Seema Jacob, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

	Motion:
	At 11:41 a.m. to enter a closed MGL c. 12,  §65C Session



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge 


Second:

   Dr. Kasra Rafia 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 




   Dr. Seema Jacob, Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

The Board recessed for lunch at 11:50 a.m. and resumed its meeting at 12:51 p.m.

Dr. Seema Jacob left the meeting at 2:56 p.m.

Motion:

   At 3:20 p.m. to adjourn the meeting
Motion Made By:
   Dr. Kasra Rafia
Second:

   Dr. Richard T. Miller
Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 




   Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Sabina Malla, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 




   Ms. Ailish Wilkie, Ms. Jacyn Stultz




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

Respectfully submitted,

Barbara A. Young, RDH, JD
Executive Director

DATED:   December 29, 2025
2

